PAGE  

No. COA22-851
DISTRICT 8B
NORTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

***********************************

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

)








)



v.




)
Wayne County







)


Calvin Ray Hocutt,


)



Defendant



)

********************************

Defendant-AppelLant’s Brief

********************************

INDEX
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
iii
ISSUES PRESENTED
1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
2

STATEMENT OF GROUNDS FOR APPELLATE 

REVIEW
2

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
2

ARGUMENT
12

I.
THE TRIAL COURT PLAINLY ERRED BY NOT INSTRUCTING ON THE LIMITED USE OF Tommy’s PRIOR STATEMENTS.  ALTERNATIVELY, COUNSEL’S FAILURE TO REQUEST THE LIMITING INSTRUCTION CONSTITUTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
12

A.
Standard  of Review
13

B.
Tommy’s prior unsworn statements to investigators were not substantive evidence at trial
13

II.
THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR FELONY CRUELTY TO ANIMALS
16

A.
Standard of Review
17

B.
Tommy Lozier’s statements were not substantial evidence from which a rational juror could have been entirely convinced of Calvin’s guilt since he could not remember what he saw or heard that day
17

III.
THE TRIAL COURT PLAINLY ERRED BY FAILING TO INSTRUCT ON THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF MISDEMEANOR CRUELTY TO ANIMALS
21

A.
Standard of Review
21

B.
The jury could have concluded that Calvin shot the dog intentionally but without malice
21

IV.
THE TRIAL COURT PLAINLY ERRED WHEN IT DEFINED “MALICIOUSLY” AND “MALICE” IN THE JURY INSTRUCTION
24

A.
Standard of Review
24

B.
The jury was limited to considering whether Mr. Calvin acted maliciously, as defined by N.C.G.S. 14-360(c)
24

C.
The instruction on maliciously and malice probably impacted the jury’s verdict
29

CONCLUSION
32
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 28
33
CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF SERVICE
33
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Bell v. Danzer, 

187 N.C. 224 (1924)
27

Kyle v. Holston Group, 

188 N.C. App. 686 (2008)
26

State v. Allen, 

92 N.C. App. 168 (1988)
13

State v. Bagley, 

183 N.C. App. 514 (2007)
17

State v. Bell, 

87 N.C. App. 626 (1987)
22

State v. Boykin, 

310 N.C. 118 (1984)
22

State v. Canty, 

224 N.C. App. 514 (2012)
16

State v. Clark, 

201 N.C. App. 319 (2009)
22

State v. Erby, 

56 N.C. App. 358 (1982)
13, 14
State v. Foreman, 

270 N.C. App. 784 (2020)
13

State v. Foster, 

63 N.C. App. 531 (1983)
14, 15, 16
State v. Gause, 

227 N.C. 26 (1946)
22

State v. Gerberding, 

237 N.C. App. 502 (2014)
passim
State v. Glidden, 

317 N.C. 557 (1986)
31

State v. Hales, 

256 N.C. 27 (1961)
28

State v. Lawrence, 

352 N.C. 1 (2000)
23

State v. Lawrence, 

365 N.C. 506 (2012)
15, 23
State v. Lee, 

348 N.C. 474 (1998)
17

State v. Nickens, 

262 N.C. App. 353 (2018)
26, 27
State v. Osorio, 

196 N.C. App. 458 (2009)
13, 21, 24
State v. Rieger, 

267 N.C. App. 647 (2019)
28

State v. Sumpter, 

318 N.C. 102 (1986)
17, 18
State v. Warren, 

348 N.C. 80 (1998)
18

State v. Wright, 

304 N.C. 349 (1981)
22

Strickland v. Washington, 

466 U.S. 668 (1984)
15

Taylor v. J.P. Stevens Co., 

307 N.C. 392 (1983)
26



Statutes
1998 N.C. Sess. Laws 212, § 17.16
25

N.C.G.S. § 1D-5
27

N.C.G.S. § 7A-27
2

N.C.G.S. § 14-360
passim
N.C.G.S. § 15A-1444
2



Other Authorities
Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Texts, 225 (2012)
26

Black’s Law Dictionary 968 (7th ed. 1999)
29

Malice, Dictionary.com, https://www.dictionary.com/

browse/malice (last visited Dec 8, 2022)
29
Malice, Merriam-Webster,  https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/malice (last visited Dec 8, 2022)
29
N.C.P.I. – Crim. 105.20
14

N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10
25, 28



No. COA22-851
DISTRICT 8B
NORTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

***********************************

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

)








)



v.




)
Wayne County







)


Calvin Ray Hocutt,


)



Defendant



)

********************************

Defendant-Appellant’s Brief

********************************

Issues Presented
I. Did the trial court plainly err by not instructing on the limited use of Tommy’s prior statements?  Alternatively, did counsel’s failure to request the limiting instruction constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?
II. Was the evidence insufficient to support a conviction for felony cruelty to animals?
III. Did the trial court plainly err by failing to instruct on the lesser included offense of misdemeanor cruelty to animals?
IV. Did the trial court plainly err when it defined “maliciously” and “malice” in the jury instructions?
Statement of the Case

On 1 March 2021, a Wayne County Grand Jury indicted Calvin Hocutt for felony cruelty to animals.  Rp. 2.  He was tried at the 14 February 2022 Criminal Session of Wayne County Superior Court, the Honorable William W. Bland presiding.  Rp. 1.

The jury found Mr. Hocutt guilty of felony cruelty to animals.  Rp. 25.  On 17 February 2022, Judge Bland sentenced Mr. Hocutt to 6 to 17 months’ imprisonment, suspended for 18 months of supervised probation.  Mr. Hocutt was ordered to serve a 4-month term of imprisonment as a condition of special probation.  Rp. 28.  Mr. Hocutt appealed.  Tp. 244.
Statement of Grounds for Appellate Review

The ground for review is a final judgment in a criminal case.  N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b)" \s "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b)" \c 2 ; 15A-1444(a) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27 (b); 15A-1444 (a)" \s "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27 (b); 15A-1444 (a)" \c 2 .
Statement of the Facts


On the afternoon of 21 March 2020, a dog was shot and killed in Dudley, NC.  Tp. 80.  The animal was hit in the chest.  Tp. 132.  Lacking shell casings or other physical evidence of the shooter’s identity, investigators turned to the statement of Tommy Lozier, a 61-year-old, who is blind and testified he had a problem with alcohol and suffers from severe, diagnosed short-term memory problems.  Tpp. 97, 100-01, 111, 147.  Based solely on Tommy’s word, police arrested Calvin Hocutt for shooting and killing the dog.  Tp. 192.
Rambo, his tenants, and a gunshot that “weren’t really no big deal” 


Within the Dudley community, tucked behind a “booming” bar named La Palmita, sits a short, dead-end road called Brook Terrace Drive.  Tp. 89, 122; State’s Ex. 2, Rp. 8.  Jean Gelin, known as “Rambo,” lives in a house at the top of the drive with his wife and dogs.  Tpp. 160, 162, 178.  A 6-6.5-foot fence separates the house from the road.   Rpp. 8, 17; Tp. 123.  Rambo runs a small trucking company and rents out a pair of houses further down Brook Terrace Drive.
  Tpp. 77, 158-159.


The two rental houses are located around a bend in the road, out of sight of Rambo’s house.  Michael Lozier lived in one of these houses and his father, Tommy Lozier, lived in the other.  Rp. 8; Tpp. 76-78.  

Thomas Smith, Thomas’ son Joshua Smith, and Thomas’ grandson Calvin Hocutt lived across the street from Rambo’s properties, on a property with a long driveway and a barn in the back.  Rp. 8; Tpp. 78, 187.  

On the afternoon of Saturday 21 March 2020, Tommy and Michael heard a gunshot.  Tpp. 86, 99.  This was not a rare occurrence in the neighborhood, where “all them young’uns  . . .  has like a BB gun or pellet pistol;” La Palmita was “always booming” with gunshots; and law enforcement regularly visited the area for “[d]isturbances between neighbors [and] multiple shots fired calls.”  Tpp. 89-90, 143-44.


Michael’s stepmother, hearing the shot, asked Michael to go outside to “check out what’s going on.”  Tp. 74, 86.  Michael found his father on their shared driveway.  Tpp. 74-75.


Tommy had started drinking earlier that afternoon.  By the time Michael showed up, Tommy was in a self-described state of “pretty much intoxicated” that he would later call “medium drunk.”  Tpp. 52, 110.  He had consumed, in his own words, “a little bit, but I mean … probably too much” liquor.  Tp. 110.

Father and son stood together in the driveway.  Michael stated that they “really didn’t think nothing else” about the shot.  Michael opined, “it weren’t really no big deal, you know, we just heard a gunshot.”  Tp. 86.

A dead dog and a quick burial


Rambo had been out on the afternoon and early evening of 21 March 2020.  He entered his house through the back door.  Tpp. 159, 162.  Even though Rambo said one of his dogs, Campbell, stayed by the back door “all the time,” Rambo did not see the dog when he returned that night.  Tp. 163.  

The next morning, Rambo received a text informing him the dog had passed the day before.  Rambo spoke to Tommy and Michael before calling the police.  Tp. 164.  Michael learned someone had shot Rambo’s dog when Rambo came and told him.  Tp. 80.  Rambo said, “Tommy told me my dog got shot, I need to call the police, it’s not right.”  Tp. 165.  Rambo said Tommy also told him who shot the dog, but he didn’t remember the name of the person.  Tpp. 165-66.  

Michael called 911.  Tp. 167.  Deputy Elrod arrived at approximately 1 p.m. on 22 May 2020.  Tpp. 122, 143.  Rambo told Elrod what Tommy said.  Tp. 167.

Partway through the deputy’s investigation, Tommy waved him over to the corner of Rambo’s yard.  After Tommy told Elrod “he saw what had happened and he saw the defendant Calvin running away from the scene with a rifle in his hand the day prior,” Elrod asked Tommy to write down his statement.  Tp. 140.  Because Tommy could not read or write, Michael wrote the statement for Tommy.  Tpp. 140-41.  Tommy could not remember if Michael read it back to him after writing it.  Tp. 109.

The statement Michael wrote reads: “Yesterday about 5:00 pm I was in the nabors yard an I herd a gun shot at Rambo’s house (121/Brookerrace) an seen Calvin running away from Rambo’s front gate with a rifle (22) back to his house Calvin then told me he shot the dog in the chest an killed him I herd a real loud wine an then it stoped all together.”  Rp. 7. 

After taking Tommy’s statement, Deputy Elrod took photos of the scene, told Rambo he could bury the dog, and left.  Tommy, Michael, and Rambo buried the dog later that afternoon.  Tpp. 177-78.  No necropsy was performed.  There was no indication that the bullet was recovered from the dog.  Tp. 132.  Despite a thorough search, Deputy Elrod did not find any shell casings at or near the house.  Tp. 147.

Deputy Elrod did not speak with Calvin because he was “not on-scene.”  Tp. 145.  After Elrod left, Joshua, Calvin’s uncle who had an ongoing “feud” with Rambo, came to Rambo’s house threatening “a war” over the fact that Rambo had called the police.  Tpp. 229-30.  Rambo’s response: “I’m ready.”  Tp. 230.


Detective Powers spoke to Rambo on Tuesday March 24th and met the Loziers at their residence on Friday the 27th.  Tpp. 183-84.  During his conversation with the Loziers, Powers showed Tommy the written statement, and Tommy said it was his statement.  According to Powers, Tommy was “very adamant that that [was] what happened.”  Tp. 185.  Tommy said that “he didn’t want to cause any trouble, but that something should be done about an animal being shot and killed for no reason.”  Tp. 185.

On April 2nd, almost two weeks after the incident and initial contact with law enforcement, Detective Powers searched the house where Calvin lived—the house across the street from Tommy’s trailer and around the bend from Rambo’s house.  Tpp. 186-87. 


During the search, Powers spoke with Calvin’s grandfather and Joshua, but did not speak to Calvin because he was not there.  Tpp. 187-88.  Powers found a shotgun at the house.  Tp. 192.  Joshua also described a .22 rifle that was kept “propped up” at the back door of the house but stated that the rifle had been stolen a week prior.  Calvin had reported a stolen rifle on 4 April 2020, two weeks after the incident.  Tpp. 189-90.


Despite the lack of physical evidence or any conversation with Calvin Hocutt up to this point, Detective Powers arrested Calvin on 3 April 2020 for killing Rambo’s dog.  Tp. 192. 

The trial

The case was tried nearly two years later.  When Michael and Tommy arrived for court on Monday, the prosecutor asked Michael about the statement he wrote, and Tommy signed.  Tp. 38.  Tommy told the prosecutor the statement was “[p]retty much or close to” accurate.  Tp. 51.  Neither Michael nor Tommy had ever spoken to or corresponded with the prosecutor before the trial.  Tpp. 37-38, 51.  


During a break in the jury selection, Michael and Tommy spoke with Calvin, Calvin’s father, and Joshua about the case.  Tp. 43.  After a break, Michael approached the prosecutor to say that he, Tommy, and Joshua wanted to speak to the prosecutor about “the whole thing in general.”  Joshua was a friend of the Lozier’s family, and he and Tommy worked together.  Tpp. 38-39.  Michael explained they had a common interest and had known Calvin since he was “in diapers.”  Tp. 40.  


Michael explained that the night before, Tommy 
was saying that he was drinking, you know, that day and he didn’t want -- he wouldn’t feel  comfortable saying that he did or he didn’t, you know, and, and yes, we were standing in front of the deputy when, when we, ah -- when we did the statement, but I can also say that he, ah -- I know he, at that time, was an alcoholic and he did drank a lot and, you know, they’ve got 20 dogs around the house there and, you know, one -- if something happens to one of them, you know, he’s going to stand right up and be ready to kick somebody’s butt, you know, but ... that, that’s pretty much what that was about.
Tp. 40.  During a break on the second day of the trial, Michael said that while sitting in the hallway, Tommy “said I -- I can’t say I remember seeing him with a gun.”  Tpp. 43-44.  Michael told him, “well, you know, that’s what we said because that’s what I wrote down,” and Tommy responded, “you know me, Michael, you know, you know, an alcoholic[.]”  Tp. 44.  Michael explained, “pretty much that’s what he was getting at, you know, like I can’t say I remember[.]”  Tp. 44.  Michael added that Tommy was “a serious alcoholic back then.”  Tp. 44.  When asked about the conversation in the hallway, Tommy reiterated that on the day of the shooting, “I was pretty much intoxicated, yes, that day I was.”  Tp. 52. 


Tommy told the court, he “weren’t sure that [Calvin] shot the dog, but I had an idea he did, I didn’t -- I couldn’t say that he -- I seen him shoot the dog, I never seen him shoot the dog.”  Tp. 50.  The prosecutor asked Tommy about the written statement.  Tommy said he could not read or write, but confirmed it was his signature on the statement.  Tp. 50.  

Both Michael and Tommy said that they were prepared to testify truthfully, and nothing was impairing their ability to do so or pressuring them to change their testimony.  Tpp. 46-47, 56-57. 


When testifying in front of the jury, Tommy expressed doubt about whether Calvin had been carrying a rifle, saying “I’m not really sure that I remember, because I was drinking that day … and I have short-term memory … it’s hard for me to remember anything.”  Tp. 97.  After this expression of doubt, Tommy contradicted his written statement by saying, that “Me and Josh was out there talking and when Calvin come back, I mean ... I can’t -- it’s hard for me to remember, I know, I know he come across, back across the road, he told Josh too the dog was dead or something, I don’t know, I, I heard a gunshot, the dog is dead, and so I put two and two together.”  Tp. 99.  

Continuing his doubt regarding the object in Calvin’s hand, Tommy mused, “I’m not going to say it was a gun, because I was impaired and, and, and -- I still can’t remember.”  Tp. 100.  Then, asked again about the accuracy of his statement, Tommy responded that he “ain’t going to be as for sure about it,” that he “seen him coming back,” and that the item in Calvin’s hand “could have been a stick.”  Tp. 104.  

Tommy had several deaths in  his family – including his son’s suicide – and dealt with them by putting his “mind in the bottle.”  Tpp. 88, 91-92, 100.  He would drink liquor “every other night . . . , if not every night” from the afternoon until he “got to feeling [he] was ready to drunk out.”  Tpp. 88, 112.  This consumption, an attempt to keep himself from thinking about the deaths “all the time,” would sometimes continue until morning light.  Tpp. 91, 100.

Throughout his testimony, Tommy was unsure if Calvin was carrying a gun or a stick.  Tpp. 115-16.  He also rambled in response to questions about what happened.  When asked, “Do you remember telling both of these investigators what you saw on the 21st of March, 2020?” he responded, “Yeah, I told them, you know, what I told you, um ... and I mean that’s, that’s about – it’s just fizzled out from there, I mean it’s -- the dogs, his dogs, and their dogs, they all run loose, so his dog goes over there and kills his dog, and I think it was just a mix[-]up right there all together, I think it just got out of his hand, and it ended up in this result right here.”  Tp. 107.  When asked, “In your earlier testimony you said that you didn’t see anything in his hand or if you did see something you didn’t know what it was; is that still true?” he responded, 
I didn’t know what it was, I know -- I know that they run the dog away from there, they run the dog away and the dog come back, this is what -- that I saw, and then he kept over there and Calvin went running and I don’t know, I’m not going to say if he had a gun, if he had a stick, because Josh was the one that had a stick, he went over there and killed -- killed his dog -- because then I’d be mad too, and I don’t, I don’t ... I don’t know what to say.
Tpp. 115-16.

Over the course of the testimony, Tommy also informed the jury of his state of mind and assorted medical conditions.  Alongside being “medium drunk” on liquor at the time of the incident, Tommy also stated he was “legally blind,” having 20/100 vision in one eye and 20/200 vision in the other eye.  Tpp. 101, 110-11.  Tommy also noted that he has severe, diagnosed issues as to short-term memory.  Tpp. 97-98.  He described having trouble remembering his own birthday and noted that memories may last him a day.  Tpp. 97, 100.

Michael testified that he did not witness or hear anything related to Rambo’s dog on 21 March 2020.  Tp. 74.  He saw Calvin in the curve of the road on 21 March 2020.  Michael did not speak to Calvin.  Michael did not see Calvin carrying anything.  Tp. 79.  

Michael reiterated that he did not see Calvin with any weapon, let alone a rifle.   Tpp. 45, 79, 94.  He told the jury Calvin was known to shoot long guns but not to carry them out in public.  Tpp. 89-90.  Michael had not seen Calvin outside of his yard with a long gun.  Tp. 94.

Michael also had a hard time remembering what had happened in March 2020 – saying “I don’t know if it’s hereditable (phonetic) or not, but I -- you know, I -- two  years, I can’t remember two weeks.”  Tp. 87.  He said his father was “probably” drinking that day and Tommy had “issues with drinking.”  Tp. 88.  He explained Tommy would “get drunk probably I guess at least every, every night -- every other -- I mean every other night,  you know, if not every night, you know, he, he had a lot on his mind, you know, we ... we’ve had a lot of deaths in our family, and, and ... he deals with depression and, you know, he -- and I guess drinking was what he thought he had to do.”  Tp. 88.

The jury found Calvin Hocutt guilty of felony cruelty to animals, which required finding that he intentionally and maliciously killed Rambo’s dog.  Tp. 224.  The recollection of Tommy Lozier was the only evidence connecting Calvin to the shooting.
Argument
I. The trial court plainly erred by not instructing on the limited use of Tommy’s prior statements.  Alternatively, counsel’s failure to request the limiting instruction constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.


Tommy Lozier told police that he had “seen Calvin running away from Rambo’s front gate with a rifle (22)” and that “Calvin then told [him] he shot the dog in the chest [and] killed him[.]”  Rp. 7 (cleaned up).  At trial, he testified Calvin “he told Josh too the dog was dead or something.”  Tp. 99.  Tommy testified he could not remember if Calvin had a gun when Tommy saw him on 21 March 2020.  Tp. 100.  Tommy’s statement to the police was the only evidence that Calvin had a gun on the day the dog was shot.  It was also the only evidence that Calvin ever admitted to shooting the dog.  Because it was the only evidence Calvin shot the dog, the jury likely based its verdict on what Tommy said to the police even though that statement’s use should have been limited to its impact on Tommy’s credibility.  

A. Standard of Review


Challenges to the trial court’s decisions regarding jury instructions are reviewed de novo.  State v. Osorio, 196 N.C. App. 458, 466 (2009) TA \l "State v. Osorio, 196 N.C. App. 458, 466 (2009)" \s "State v. Osorio, 196 N.C. App. 458, 466 (2009)" \c 1 .  Whether a defendant was denied effective assistance of counsel is reviewed de novo.  State v. Foreman, 270 N.C. App. 784, 788 (2020) TA \l "State v. Foreman, 270 N.C. App. 784, 788 (2020)" \s "State v. Foreman, 270 N.C. App. 784, 788 (2020)" \c 1 .  
B. Tommy’s prior unsworn statements to investigators were not substantive evidence at trial.

The jury should not have been able to consider Tommy’s inconsistent statements to the police as evidence of Calvin’s guilt.  “The law is well-settled in North Carolina that prior inconsistent statements are not admissible as substantive evidence, ‘but may be introduced for the jury’s consideration in determining the witness’s credibility.’”  State v. Allen, 92 N.C. App. 168, 174 (1988) TA \l "State v. Allen, 92 N.C. App. 168, 174 (1988)" \s "State v. Allen, 92 N.C. App. 168, 174 (1988)" \c 1  (quoting State v. Erby, 56 N.C. App. 358, 361 (1982) TA \l "State v. Erby, 56 N.C. App. 358, 361 (1982)" \s "State v. Erby, 56 N.C. App. 358, 361 (1982)" \c 1 ).  “[W]hen evidence is competent for one purpose, but not for another, the party against whom it is offered is entitled, upon request, to have the jury instructed to consider it only for the purposes for which it is competent.”  State v. Foster, 63 N.C. App. 531, 536 (1983) TA \l "State v. Foster, 63 N.C. App. 531, 536 (1983)" \s "State v. Foster, 63 N.C. App. 531, 536 (1983)" \c 1 .  The pattern instruction on prior statements provides:

Evidence has been received tending to show that at an earlier time a witness made a statement which may conflict or be consistent with the testimony of the witness at this trial.  You must not consider such earlier statement as evidence of the truth of what was said at that earlier time because it was not made under oath at this trial. If you believe the earlier statement was made, and that it conflicts or is consistent with the testimony of the witness at this trial, you may consider this, and all other facts and circumstances bearing upon the witness’s truthfulness, in deciding whether you will believe or disbelieve the witness's testimony.
N.C.P.I. – Crim. 105.20 TA \l "N.C.P.I.—Crim 105.20" \s "N.C.P.I.—Crim 105.20" \c 3 .  It is reversible error for the trial court to deny a defendant’s request to instruct the jury that a prior inconsistent statement of a witness was only to be considered in determining that witness’ credibility.  Erby, 56 N.C. App. 358 TA \l "Erby, 56 N.C. App. 358" \s "Erby, 56 N.C. App. 358" \c 1 .  


Tommy’s prior statements to the officers were admitted without any limitation—even though they were only admissible for a limited purpose.  The court erred by failing to give a limiting instruction on the use of prior statements, either when Tommy testified, when others testified about his statements, or in the final jury charge.  Foster, 63 N.C. App. at 536 TA \l "Foster, 63 N.C. App. at 536" \s "Foster, 63 N.C. App. at 536" \c 1 .  Had counsel requested an instruction on the limited use of Tommy’s statements, Calvin would have been entitled to the instruction prohibiting the use of these statements as substantive evidence.  Id.  But no limiting instruction was requested.

Because counsel did not request a limiting instruction, Calvin must show that the failure to give the instruction was a fundamental error that probably impacted the outcome of the trial.  State v. Lawrence, 365 N.C. 506, 518 (2012) TA \l "State v. Lawrence, 365 N.C. 506, 518 (2012)" \s "State v. Lawrence, 365 N.C. 506, 518 (2012)" \c 1 .  The State’s case was circumstantial and not overwhelming.  There was no eyewitness to the shooting or forensic evidence linking Calvin to the shooting.  Tommy’s prior statement to the police that Calvin both had a gun and said he shot the dog undoubtedly would have impacted the jury’s verdict.  Without these statements, the jury would have been left only with Tommy’s trial testimony which was that he could not remember if Calvin had a gun and that Calvin only said the dog was dead.  Had the jury been told it could not consider Tommy’s prior inconsistent statements as evidence of Calvin’s guilt, the jury probably would have found Calvin not guilty.


Alternatively, counsel was ineffective for failing to request a limiting instruction.  Counsel is ineffective if counsel’s performance was deficient, meaning it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and the deficient performance prejudiced the defense, meaning there is a reasonable probability that the trial’s result would have been different had the performance of counsel not been deficient.  Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 694 (1984) TA \l "Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 694 (1984)" \s "Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 694 (1984)" \c 1 .  


Counsel’s failure to request a limiting instruction on damaging evidence – including that Calvin said he killed the dog – fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.  The instruction would have been given if requested.  Foster, 63 N.C. App. at 536 TA \s "Foster, 63 N.C. App. at 536" .  A limiting instruction would have weakened the impact of Tommy’s damaging out-of-court statements that were not repeated in his testimony.  There was no strategic reason not to request an instruction limiting the use of damaging statements.  See State v. Canty, 224 N.C. App. 514, 520 (2012) TA \l "State v. Canty, 224 N.C. App. 514, 520 (2012)" \s "State v. Canty, 224 N.C. App. 514, 520 (2012)" \c 1  (finding ineffective assistance of counsel where the court could not “discern a strategic advantage by not filing a motion to suppress the incriminating evidence”).  Because this case came down to Tommy’s word since there were no eyewitnesses to the shooting, no physical evidence tying Calvin to the scene, and no evidence of animosity between Rambo and Calvin, there is also a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different had counsel requested a limiting instruction on Tommy’s statements, including that Calvin said he shot the dog.  A new trial is required.  
II. The evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for felony cruelty to animals.  

This case came down to the word of a single man who could not remember what he saw or heard the day the dog was shot.  Tommy Lozier’s testimony was not substantial evidence from which the jury could have concluded that Calvin was guilty of felonious cruelty to animals beyond a reasonable doubt.  The trial court erred by failing to dismiss the charge.
C. Standard of Review

Whether there is sufficient evidence to support a conviction is reviewed de novo.  State v. Bagley, 183 N.C. App. 514, 523 (2007) TA \l "State v. Bagley, 183 N.C. App. 514, 523 (2007)" \s "State v. Bagley, 183 N.C. App. 514, 523 (2007)" \c 1 .  
D. Tommy Lozier’s statements were not substantial evidence from which a rational juror could have been entirely convinced of Calvin’s guilt since he could not remember what he saw or heard that day.  


Based on Tommy’s word, the jury could not have been entirely convinced that Calvin shot Rambo’s dog.  Because there was no evidence beyond Tommy’s statements to police to show that Calvin shot Rambo’s dog, the trial court erred in denying the motion to dismiss.
  Tpp. 197-99, 202. 

“To survive a motion to dismiss, the State must offer substantial evidence of each essential element of the offense and substantial evidence that defendant is the perpetrator.”  State v. Lee, 348 N.C. 474, 488 (1998) TA \l "State v. Lee, 348 N.C. 474, 488 (1998)" \s "State v. Lee, 348 N.C. 474, 488 (1998)" \c 1 .  “Substantial evidence is evidence from which any rational trier of fact could find the fact to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.”  State v. Sumpter, 318 N.C. 102, 108 (1986) TA \l "State v. Sumpter, 318 N.C. 102, 108 (1986)" \s "State v. Sumpter, 318 N.C. 102, 108 (1986)" \c 1 .  “The evidence must be taken in the light most favorable to the state.”  Id. at 107 TA \l "Id. at 107" \s "Id. at 107" \c 1 .  Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is “proof that fully satisfies or entirely convinces” a juror of the defendant’s guilt.  State v. Warren, 348 N.C. 80, 106 (1998) TA \l "State v. Warren, 348 N.C. 80, 106 (1998)" \s "State v. Warren, 348 N.C. 80, 106 (1998)" \c 1 .  “Evidence is not substantial if it arouses only a suspicion about the facts to be proved, even if the suspicion is strong.”  Sumpter, 318 N.C. at 108 TA \l "Sumpter, 318 N.C. at 108" \s "Sumpter, 318 N.C. at 108" \c 1 .  

Tommy’s testimony did not establish that Calvin killed the dog intentionally and with malice or a bad motive.  To prove felony cruelty to animals, the State had to show that Calvin “maliciously … kill[ed]” the dog.  See N.C.G.S. § 14-360(b) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(b)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(b)" \c 2 .  For this offense, “the word ‘maliciously’ means an act committed intentionally and with malice or bad motive” and “the word ‘intentionally’ refers to an act committed knowingly and without justifiable excuse[.]”  N.C.G.S. § 14-360(c) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(c)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(c)" \c 2 .  “[T]o be guilty of felonious cruelty to animals, a defendant must have acted both ‘maliciously’ and ‘intentionally.’”  State v. Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. 502, 507 (2014) TA \l "State v. Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. 502, 507 (2014)" \s "State v. Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. 502, 507 (2014)" \c 1 .


Tommy’s testimony could not have entirely convinced a reasonable juror that Calvin shot and killed Rambo’s dog, intentionally and maliciously.  Michael testified he did not see Calvin with a gun on the day Rambo’s dog was shot and did not speak to him.  Tommy’s testimony raised only suspicion that Calvin shot the dog since Tommy did not see Calvin shoot the dog, did not testify that Calvin had a gun that day, and did not testify Calvin said he shot the dog.  Even taking Tommy’s testimony in the light most favorable to the state, it only showed Tommy heard a gunshot, Tommy might have seen Calvin with a gun, and then Tommy heard Calvin say the dog was dead.  Tommy did not testify that Calvin said he had killed the dog.  Tommy’s testimony did not establish that Calvin intentionally and maliciously killed the dog even if Calvin told Tommy that the dog was dead.  

There was also no clear evidence of any “bad motive” or malice that Calvin may have had towards the dog, Rambo, or generally.  The only testimony about why the dog may have been shot again came from Tommy.  He implied that at some point there had been an issue with dogs in the neighborhood:
[Q.]  Do you remember telling both of these investigators what you saw on the 21st of March, 2020? 

A.  Yeah, I told them, you know, what I told you, um ... and I mean that’s, that’s about – it’s just fizzled out from there, I mean it’s -- the dogs, his dogs, and their dogs, they all run loose, so his dog goes over there and kills his dog, and I think it was just a mix[-]up right there all together, I think it just got out of his hand, and it ended up in this result right here.
Tp. 107.  Tommy then said that before that day he had never mentioned “feuding with the dogs” or that “a dog killed another dog.”  Tp. 107.  What exactly occurred with the dogs was further muddied during Tommy’s cross-examination:
[Q.]  In your earlier testimony you said that you didn’t see anything in his hand or if you did see something you didn’t know what it was; is that still true?
A.  I didn’t know what it was, I know -- I know that they run the dog away from there, they run the dog away and the dog come back, this is what -- that I saw, and then he kept over there and Calvin went running and I don’t know, I’m not going to say if he had a gun, if he had a stick, because Josh was the one that had a stick, he went over there and killed -- killed his dog -- because then I’d be mad too, and I don’t, I don’t ... I don’t know what to say.
Tpp. 115-16.


These statements are simply too vague and confusing to rise to the level of substantial evidence of malice or bad motive.  The statute requires more than just an intentional act.  It requires a particular mindset when it is done.  The State failed to produce sufficient evidence to show that Calvin acted intentionally and with malice or bad motive.

Malice under the statute cannot be implied simply by the commission of an intentional act.  There must be something to show that act was done with malice or bad motive.  There was no evidence that Calvin had a history of hurting animals.  There was no evidence that he had animosity towards Rambo—in fact, Rambo did not even remember his name.  The State failed to produce evidence from which the jury could have reasonably inferred that Calvin acted with malice or with bad motive.  The evidence raised only suspicion about Calvin’s guilt.  The trial court erred by denying the motion to dismiss.  
III. The trial court plainly erred by failing to instruct on the lesser included offense of misdemeanor cruelty to animals.  


The State presented little to no evidence of what happened before Rambo’s dog was shot, how the dog was shot, or why the dog was shot.  In the absence of evidence establishing that the dog was killed with malice or a bad motive, the jury should have been permitted to consider whether Calvin was guilty of misdemeanor cruelty to animals.  A new trial is required.
E. Standard of Review


Challenges to the trial court’s decisions regarding jury instructions are reviewed de novo.  Osorio, 196 N.C. App. at 466 TA \l "Osorio, 196 N.C. App. at 466" \s "Osorio, 196 N.C. App. at 466" \c 1 .  
F. The jury could have concluded that Calvin shot the dog intentionally but without malice.  

The distinguishing element between felony and misdemeanor cruelty to animals is whether the action was done maliciously.  Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 507 TA \l "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 507" \s "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 507" \c 1 .  To prove the offense of felony cruelty to animals, the State had to show that Calvin “maliciously … kill[ed]” the dog.  See N.C.G.S. § 14-360(b) TA \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(b)" .  To prove the offense of misdemeanor cruelty to animals, the State would have only been required to show that Calvin “intentionally … kill[ed]” the dog.  N.C.G.S. § 14-360(a) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(a)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(a)" \c 2 .  “[M]isdemeanor cruelty to animals is a lesser included offense of felony cruelty to animals.”  Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 507 TA \s "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 507" .

It is well-established that an instruction on a lesser included offense is required when “there is evidence from which the jury could find that [the] defendant committed the lesser included offense.”  State v. Boykin, 310 N.C. 118, 121 (1984) TA \l "State v. Boykin, 310 N.C. 118, 121 (1984)" \s "State v. Boykin, 310 N.C. 118, 121 (1984)" \c 1   “The determining factor is the presence of evidence to support a conviction of the lesser included offense.”  Id.  To make this determination, a reviewing court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant.  State v. Clark, 201 N.C. App. 319, 323 (2009) TA \l "State v. Clark, 201 N.C. App. 319, 323 (2009)" \s "State v. Clark, 201 N.C. App. 319, 323 (2009)" \c 1 .  If “more than one inference” may be drawn from the evidence, it is error for the trial court not to instruct on a lesser offense.  State v. Gause, 227 N.C. 26, 30 (1946) TA \l "State v. Gause, 227 N.C. 26, 30 (1946)" \s "State v. Gause, 227 N.C. 26, 30 (1946)" \c 1 .  Ultimately, an instruction on a lesser offense is warranted where there is “some doubt or conflict” regarding the elements of the greater offense.  State v. Wright, 304 N.C. 349, 353 (1981) TA \l "State v. Wright, 304 N.C. 349, 353 (1981)" \s "State v. Wright, 304 N.C. 349, 353 (1981)" \c 1 .  If there was “some evidence” supporting the lesser offense, then failure to so instruct “constitutes reversible error which is not cured by a verdict of guilty of the greater offense.”  State v. Bell, 87 N.C. App. 626, 635 (1987) TA \l "State v. Bell, 87 N.C. App. 626, 635 (1987)" \s "State v. Bell, 87 N.C. App. 626, 635 (1987)" \c 1 .


The evidence showed that Rambo’s dog was shot once in the chest.  Tommy testified Calvin “told Josh too the dog was dead…”  Tp. 99.  In his statement to the police, Tommy said that Calvin said that “he shot the dog in the chest and killed him.”  Tp. 104.  From these statements, the jury could have concluded that Calvin intentionally killed the dog, but did so without malice or bad motive since there was no clear evidence from which to infer why the dog was shot.  

The failure to instruct on the lesser included offense of misdemeanor cruelty to animals probably impacted the verdict.  There was no request for an instruction on the lesser included offense.  See Tpp. 205-10.  When there was no request for an instruction, the failure to give the instruction is reviewed for plain error.  Lawrence, 365 N.C. at 517 TA \l "Lawrence, 365 N.C. at 517" \s "Lawrence, 365 N.C. at 517" \c 1 .  To constitute plain error, a defendant must demonstrate that a fundamental error occurred and probably impacted the jury’s verdict.  Id. at 518.

The evidence could have supported a verdict to the lesser included offense, and it was fundamental error not to instruct on it.  “A trial court must give instructions on all lesser-included offenses that are supported by the evidence, even in the absence of a special request for such an instruction[.]”  State v. Lawrence, 352 N.C. 1, 19 (2000) TA \l "State v. Lawrence, 352 N.C. 1, 19 (2000)" \s "State v. Lawrence, 352 N.C. 1, 19 (2000)" \c 1 .  If the instruction had been given, the jury probably would have found Calvin guilty of the misdemeanor offense or not guilty given the lack of evidence as to why Calvin would have shot the dog and the lack of circumstances from which the jury could have inferred malice.  The failure to instruct on the lesser included offense of misdemeanor cruelty to animals requires a new trial.  
IV. The trial court plainly erred when it defined “maliciously” and “malice” in the jury instruction.


Felony cruelty to animals requires that the killing of an animal be done maliciously, that is “with malice or bad motive.”  The trial court plainly erred by defining maliciously more broadly than the statute.  

G. Standard of Review


Challenges to the trial court’s decisions regarding jury instructions are reviewed de novo.  Osorio, 196 N.C. App. at 466 TA \s "Osorio, 196 N.C. App. at 466" .  
H. The jury was limited to considering whether Mr. Calvin acted maliciously, as defined by N.C.G.S. 14-360(c).  

To prove felony cruelty to animals, the State had to show that Calvin “maliciously … kill[ed]” the dog.  See N.C.G.S. § 14-360(b) TA \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(b)" .  Under the statutory definition of “maliciously,” “to be guilty of felonious cruelty to animals, a defendant must have acted both ‘maliciously’ and ‘intentionally.’”  Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 507 TA \s "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 507" .  N.C.G.S. § 14-360(c) states, “the word ‘intentionally’ refers to an act committed knowingly and without justifiable excuse, while the word ‘maliciously’ means an act committed intentionally and with malice or bad motive.”  


In this case, the jury was instructed that

To act maliciously means to act intentionally and with malice.  As used herein, to act with malice is to possess a sense of personal ill-will that activated the defendant to perform the act which resulted in harm to the animal. It also means the condition of mind which prompts a person to intentionally inflict serious harm to an animal which proximately results in injury to an animal.  

Tpp. 218-19.  The trial court plainly erred by excluding part of the statutory definition of maliciously and by defining malice in a manner beyond what would be commonly understood.


The instruction here tracked the language of the pattern jury instruction for felonious cruelty to animals.  N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A TA \l "N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A" \s "N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A" \c 3  (June 2017).
  The pattern borrows from other provisions of the law to define maliciously and malice in a way that is contrary to our rules of statutory construction and serves only to confuse the jury.

1. The instruction on “maliciously”


In 1998, the cruelty to animals statute was changed to allow for a misdemeanor offense and a felony offense.  1998 N.C. Sess. Laws 212, § 17.16(c) TA \l "1998 N.C. Sess. Laws 212, § 17.16(c)" \s "1998 N.C. Sess. Laws 212, § 17.16(c)" \c 2 .  For the first time, the statute required that a person act maliciously.  Compare N.C.G.S. § 14-360 TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 14-360" \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-360" \c 2  (1997) with N.C.G.S. § 14-360 (2015).
 


The pattern jury instruction used the language from the statute to define maliciously:  “To act maliciously means to act intentionally and with [malice] [bad motive].”  N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A TA \s "N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A" .  Since brackets indicate an option in the pattern instruction, the trial court did not include “bad motive” in its definition of maliciously, saying nothing about this bracket.  See Tpp. 209-10, 218; N.C.P.I. – Crim.  (“Guide to the Use of this Book”) (“Alternative words or phrases are indicated in brackets.”).  However, this omission left the jury with an incomplete statutory definition of maliciously which violates our rules of statutory construction. 


When the language of a statute is “clear and unambiguous, it must be given effect and its clear meaning may not be evaded by … a court under the guise of construction.” Kyle v. Holston Group, 188 N.C. App. 686, 692 (2008) TA \l "Kyle v. Holston Group, 188 N.C. App. 686, 692 (2008)" \s "Kyle v. Holston Group, 188 N.C. App. 686, 692 (2008)" \c 1  (quoting Taylor v. J.P. Stevens Co., 307 N.C. 392, 396 (1983) TA \l "Taylor v. J.P. Stevens Co., 307 N.C. 392, 396 (1983)" \s "Taylor v. J.P. Stevens Co., 307 N.C. 392, 396 (1983)" \c 1 .  Further, when interpreting statutes, “definition sections … are to be carefully followed.”  Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Texts, 225 (2012) TA \l "Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Texts, 225 (2012)" \s "Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Texts, 225 (2012)" \c 3 .  

This Court has recognized two additional, related rules of construction that are appliable here: noscitur a sociis and ejusdem generis.  “[N]oscitur a sociis teaches associated words explain and limit each other.  When a word used in a statute is ambiguous or vague, its meaning may be made clear and specific by considering the company in which it is found and the meaning of the terms which are associated with it.”  State v. Nickens, 262 N.C. App. 353, 367 (2018) TA \l "State v. Nickens, 262 N.C. App. 353, 367 (2018)" \s "State v. Nickens, 262 N.C. App. 353, 367 (2018)" \c 1  (cleaned up).  The ejusdem generis rule is that “where general words follow a designation of particular subjects or things, the meaning of the general words will ordinarily be presumed to be, and construed as, restricted by the particular designations and as including only things of the same kind, character and nature as those specifically enumerated.”  Id. at 368 (citation omitted).  


The statutory definition of maliciously is “intentionally and with malice or bad motive.”  N.C.G.S. 14-360(c) TA \l "N.C.G.S. 14-360(c)" \s "N.C.G.S. 14-360(c)" \c 2 .  Here the statute is clear and unambiguous.  It defined maliciously in a clear way that should have been carefully followed.  Since “bad motive” follows “malice,” it signals which meaning of malice the jury should apply.  The trial court erred by failing to include “or bad motive” in the jury charge defining maliciously.

2.  The instruction on malice

While N.C.G.S. § 14-360(c) TA \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-360(c)"  clearly defines maliciously as “intentionally and with malice or bad motive,” it does not define malice.  In support of the given definition of malice, the pattern instruction cites to N.C.G.S. § 1D-5(5) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 1D-5(5)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 1D-5(5)" \c 2  and Bell v. Danzer, 187 N.C. 224 (1924) TA \l "Bell v. Danzer, 187 N.C. 224 (1924)" \s "Bell v. Danzer, 187 N.C. 224 (1924)" \c 1 .  N.C.G.S. § 1D-5(5) defines malice as applied to cases involving punitive damages.  N.C.G.S. § 1D-5 TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 1D-5" \s "N.C.G.S. § 1D-5" \c 2  (providing definitions for “use in this Chapter”).  Bell addressed a contract dispute related to shares in a timber company.  Bell, 187 N.C. at 229 TA \l "Bell, 187 N.C. at 229" \s "Bell, 187 N.C. at 229" \c 1 .  Neither addresses section 14-360.  


The instruction on the definition of “malice” violated the rules of statutory construction.  The pattern instruction and the trial court here defined malice:  “As used herein, to act with malice is to possess a sense of personal ill-will that activated the defendant to perform the act which resulted in harm to the animal.  It also means the condition of mind which prompts a person to intentionally inflict serious harm to an animal which proximately results in injury to an animal.”  Tpp. 218-19; see N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A TA \s "N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A" .  But allowing malice to be proven by a condition of mind that causes someone to act intentionally adds nothing more than is already required by the statutory definition of intentionally.  

“When examining the plain language of a statute, undefined words in a statute must be given their common and ordinary meaning.” State v. Rieger, 267 N.C. App. 647, 649 (2019) TA \l "State v. Rieger, 267 N.C. App. 647, 649 (2019)" \s "State v. Rieger, 267 N.C. App. 647, 649 (2019)" \c 1  (citations and quotation omitted).  This is particularly important in criminal cases because “[t]he legislature, in the exercise of its power to declare what shall constitute a crime or punishable offense, must inform the citizen with reasonable precision what acts it intends to prohibit, so that he may have a certain understandable rule of conduct.”  State v. Hales, 256 N.C. 27, 32 (1961) TA \l "State v. Hales, 256 N.C. 27, 32 (1961)" \s "State v. Hales, 256 N.C. 27, 32 (1961)" \c 1 .  It must convey to “a person of ordinary understanding and intelligence” what act is prohibited.  Id. at 33.

Dictionary.com defines malice as “desire to inflict injury, harm, or suffering on another, either because of a hostile impulse or out of deep-seated meanness: the malice and spite of a lifelong enemy” and recognizes a different definition in law: “evil intent on the part of a person who commits a wrongful act injurious to others.”  Malice, Dictionary.com, https://www.dictionary.com/browse/malice (last visited Dec 8, 2022) TA \l "Malice, Dictionary.com, https://www.dictionary.com/browse/malice (last visited Dec 8, 2022)" \s "Malice, Dictionary.com, https://www.dictionary.com/browse/malice (last visited Dec 8, 2022)" \c 3 .  Merriam-Webster defines malice as “1: desire to cause pain, injury, or distress to another. 2: intent to commit an unlawful act or cause harm without legal justification or excuse.”  Malice, Merriam-Webster,  https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/malice (last visited Dec 8, 2022) TA \l "Malice, Merriam-Webster,  https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/malice (last visited Dec 8, 2022)" \s "Malice, Merriam-Webster,  https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/malice (last visited Dec 8, 2022)" \c 3 .  Black’s Law Dictionary recognized that the “most typical” definition of malice in “nonlegal contexts” is “[i]ll will; wickedness of heart.”  Black’s Law Dictionary 968 (7th ed. 1999) TA \l "Black’s Law Dictionary 968 (7th ed. 1999)" \s "Black’s Law Dictionary 968 (7th ed. 1999)" \c 3 .


As it is commonly understood, to act with malice is not to act with a “condition of mind” which prompts someone to intentionally inflict harm.  It is to act motivated not just by a desire to harm but because of meanness, ill will, or spite.  Even though the instruction here tracked the statutory language of part of the definition of maliciously, the instruction on maliciously did not convey the meaning of the statute to the jury especially since the word malice was defined in a manner inconsistent with its ordinary meaning.  

I. The instruction on maliciously and malice probably impacted the jury’s verdict.  


The instruction on maliciously and malice probably impacted the jury’s decision here.  There was no evidence of ill will, spite, or meanness by Calvin.  There was also no evidence of a justifiable reason that Calvin or anyone would have shot this particular dog.  The jury probably relied on finding “a condition of mind which prompts a person to intentionally inflict serious harm” to find that Calvin acted maliciously.  If the jury had not been given an overly expansive definition of maliciously, it probably would have returned a different verdict under the facts of this case.


In Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. 502 TA \l "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. 502" \s "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. 502" \c 1 , this Court found no plain error in an instruction that allowed the jury to rely on implied malice as the instruction here did.  The definition of malice given there was “the same definition of malice used in homicide cases.”  Id. at 508.  The jury was instructed, “Malice means not only hated, ill will or spite, as it is ordinarily understood -- to be sure, that is malice -- but it also means the condition of mind which prompts a person to intentionally inflict serious bodily harm which proximately results in injury to an animal without just cause, excuse or justification”  Id. at 507.  This Court stated that the first part of the instruction addressed express malice and the later part addressed implied malice.  Id. at 507-08.  Even assuming the instruction was error, this Court concluded that there was evidence of express malice such that the jury verdict would not have been impacted by the instruction.  Id. at 508.  

The concurring judge found error in the implied malice instruction, stating that malice was “defined in the specific statutory language contained in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-360 TA \l "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-360" \s "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-360" \c 2 (c) rather than in otherwise-applicable common law principles.”  Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 510 TA \l "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 510" \s "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 510" \c 1  (Ervin, J. concurring).  The concurrence stated, “[T]he statutory requirement that there be proof of ‘malice or bad motive’ in addition to proof of intentional conduct in order to support a conviction for felonious cruelty to animals is rendered superfluous in the event that implied malice … suffices to establish the malice necessary to raise the defendant’s conduct from a misdemeanor to a felony.”  Id. at 511.  He also recognized that “[a]llowing a defendant to be convicted of both misdemeanor and felonious cruelty to animals on the basis of the same conduct would raise serious constitutional issues by ‘allow[ing] a prosecutor arbitrarily to elect to pursue a felony conviction for an offense, defined by the substantive statute as a misdemeanor, which requires proof of the very elements by which it may be ‘elevated’ to felony status.’”  Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 511 TA \l "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 511" \s "Gerberding, 237 N.C. App. at 511" \c 1  (citing State v. Glidden, 317 N.C. 557, 566 (1986) TA \l "State v. Glidden, 317 N.C. 557, 566 (1986)" \s "State v. Glidden, 317 N.C. 557, 566 (1986)" \c 1  (Meyer, J., concurring in result)) (emphasis in Glidden).

Because there was no evidence of express malice, and the jury likely replied on the implied malice definition to find Calvin guilty.  Because the instruction on implied malice allowed for a conviction even if Calvin only acted intentionally, it was error.  A new trial is required.  
Conclusion
Calvin requests that this Court vacate his conviction or remand for a new trial.    

Respectfully submitted, this the 21st day of December, 2022.
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N.C.G.S. § 14-360 (1997)
App. 1

N.C.G.S. § 14-360
App. 2-3
N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10
App. 4-6
� For consistency, people are addressed by their first names as used at trial.  


� For the reasons stated in Issue I, Tommy’s statements to the police were not substantive evidence.  


� A copy of N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A� TA \s "N.C.P.I. – Crim. 247.10A" � is included in the appendix.


� Unless otherwise noted, citations to 14-360 are to the current version which was last amended in 2015.  A copy of the 1997 version and the current version of N.C.G.S. § 14-360� TA \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-360" � are included in the appendix.  





